
Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 1 of 8 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SWANZEY ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 
JUNE 15, 2009  

 
Minutes are not final until reviewed and approved by the Board.  Review and approval of 

minutes generally takes place at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 
 
ATTENDANCE 
Bill Hutwelker, Keith Thibault, Charlie Beauregard, Jerry Walker, and 
alternates Bryan Rudgers (left at 7:55) and Bob DeRocher (arrived at 7:12). 
Town Planner Sara Carbonneau and Code Enforcement Officer Jim Weston also 
were present.  

     Chairman Hutwelker called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m. and read the 
agenda for the meeting. The Board addressed the following items.  
 
MINUTES  
Motion by Beauregard to approve the minutes of May 18, 2009. Second by 
DeRocher. All in favor.  
 
 

1.  PUBLIC HEARING (REQUEST FOR AN EQUITABLE WAIVER OF DIMENSIONAL 
REQUIREMENTS)  
Applicant: Werner and Ursula Dafeldecker 
Property owner: Kevin and Britta Anderson 
Property location: off West Shore Road     Tax Map 61, Lot 33 
Zoning District(s): Rural/Agricultural and Shoreland Protection District 
Request: Equitable Waiver of Dimensional Requirements from Section IV.A.3 for 
a shed that does not meet required setbacks.  
 
Hutwelker opened the public hearing at 7:10. 
Members seated: Hutwelker, Thibault, Beauregard, Walker. Rudgers was seated 
for Mitchell.  
Representing the application: Ursula and Werner Dafeldecker 
Abutters present: none  
 
     Board members acknowledged receipt of a June 12, 2009 ZBA Application 
Summary prepared by Carbonneau. Carbonneau presented the contents of the 
summary, which includes a history of activities on the parcels show at Tax Map 
61, Lot 33 and Tax Map 46, Lot 13, a time line prepared by Weston, and staff 
correspondence regarding past activities, including a June 11, 2008 notice of 
violation. Weston presented a summary of his timeline of activities from 2006 
until the present. Weston stated that he had no recollection of indicating to the 
Dafeldeckers an appropriate location for situating the shed. Subsequent to 



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 2 of 8 
 
 
 

sending the Dafeldeckers the notice of violation, Weston said that he has had 
conversations with the Dafeldeckers, but none in reference to the shed.  
     U. Dafeldecker said that, according to her recollection, Weston had come to 
the property at her request to see what the Dafeldeckers had in mind. When 
asked where the shed might be located, Weston had indicated the general area 
where the shed ultimately was installed, saying that there is no other location 
on the property because of the presence of large boulders.  
     U. Dafeldecker said that in 2006 she had obtained permission from abutter 
John Snide to construct the shed on the Snide property (Tax Map 61, Lot 33). 
She said she then had come to Town Hall to ask about town requirements, and 
had learned that a permit is not required for a structure smaller than 100 
square feet. At this time she had asked Weston to visit the property and show 
where to install the shed. U. Dafeldecker said that she and her husband then 
purchased the shed, and had it installed in late August 2006. After the shed 
was installed, U. Dafeldecker said, she and her husband purchased an 
easement from J. Snide.   
     U. Dafeldecker said that she and her husband had taken every legal step 
they could. She said that many people have complimented her on the 
appearance of the shed.  
     ZBA members said they recollected the details of the application that were 
presented at the September 15, 2008 public hearing. Hutwelker determined 
that no abutters were present. Swanzey Conservation Commission (SCC) 
member Deb Crowder determined that the shed is between 13’ and 14’ from 
Swanzey Lake, and has been installed on a pad of gravel that is 10” deep. At the 
September 15, 2008 public hearing, Thibault said, the ZBA had not 
recommended that the Dafeldeckers pursue an equitable waiver; rather, he 
said, the Board had acknowledged that pursuing an equitable waiver was an 
option available to the Dafeldeckers. 
     Hearing no further questions, Hutwelker closed the public hearing at 7:30. 
     ZBA members determined that the request involves a dimensional 
requirement, and determined that the violation has not existed for 10 years or 
more. Board members agreed that Weston’s timeline makes clear how the 
nonconformity was discovered after the structure was substantially complete.  
     After discussion, Board members determined that the violation was not the 
result of a legitimate mistake: Board members found it unlikely that Weston 
would have recommended placing a shed on land not owned by the 
Dafeldeckers, unless he was unaware of the location of the property line. 
     Based on testimony regarding positive comments about the appearance of 
the shed, Board members agreed that the nonconformity does not constitute a 
nuisance or diminish the value or interfere with future uses of other property in 
the area. Hearing no testimony that the presence of the shed contributes to 
pollution of Swanzey Lake, and considering the cost of removal of the shed, 
Board members agreed that the cost of correction far outweighs any public 
benefit to be gained. 
     Motion by Thibault to deny the Equitable Waiver of Dimensional 
Requirements from Section IV.A.3 for a shed that does not meet required 
setbacks, based on the finding that the violation did not result from a legitimate 
mistake. Second by Beauregard. All in favor. 



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 3 of 8 
 
 
 

     Hutwelker advised Mr. and Mrs. Dafeldecker that they have 30 days in 
which to appeal the decision.  
 
2.  PUBLIC HEARING (AREA VARIANCE APPLICATION)  
Applicant: Werner and Ursula Dafeldecker 
Property owner: Kevin and Britta Anderson 
Property location: off West Shore Road     Tax Map 61, Lot 33 
Zoning District(s): Rural/Agricultural and Shoreland Protection District  
Request: area variance from Section IV.A.3 to permit the construction of a 
storage shed that does not meet required setbacks from Swanzey Lake.  
 
Hutwelker continued the public hearing from the September 15, 2009 meeting. 
Members seated: Hutwelker, Thibault, Beauregard, Walker. Bob DeRocher was 
seated for Mitchell.  
Representing the application: Ursula Dafeldecker and Werner Dafeldecker 
Abutters present: none 
 
Hutwelker stated that the ZBA now was considering the original application for 
an area variance. For Board members’ inspection, U. Dafeldecker presented 
photographs of the property that indicate locations of trees, boulders and other 
obstacles to re-location of the shed. Hutwelker determined that Board members 
had no further questions, and closed the public hearing at 7:51. 
  
REVIEW OF CRITERIA  
Board members agreed that the proposal would require an area variance, not a 
use variance. Members reviewed the criteria for granting the requested 
variance. 
 

1.  Could the area variance be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 
     Hearing no evidence to the contrary, members agreed in the affirmative.  
 
2.  Could the variance be granted without the proposed use being contrary to the public interest? 
 Hearing no evidence to the contrary, and considering testimony of positive 
comments about the appearance of the shed, members agreed in the 
affirmative.  
 
3. Owing to special conditions, would the denial of the variance result in unnecessary hardship to the land 
owner, according to the Boccia test for determining unnecessary hardship? Denial would result in  

 
a.    Is an area variance needed to enable the applicant’s proposed use of the property given the special 

conditions of the property? 
  Members agreed that the lot size, and presence of trees and rocks are 
special conditions that necessitate the area variance. 

 
b.   Is the benefit sought by the applicant one that cannot be achieved by some other method reasonably 

feasible for the applicant to pursue, other than an area variance?  
 Members agreed in the affirmative. 
 

4.  If the variance is granted, would the spirit of the ordinance be observed? 
  Members agreed in the affirmative. 

 
5. Would granting the variance do substantial justice? 



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 4 of 8 
 
 
 

  Members agreed in the affirmative. 
 
Motion by DeRocher to approve the area variance from Section IV.A.3 to permit 
the construction of a storage shed that does not meet required setbacks from 
Swanzey Lake. Second by Walker. All in favor. 
 
 
3.  PUBLIC HEARING (USE VARIANCE AND AREA VARIANCE APPLICATION)  
Applicant: Camp Squanto 
Property owner: East Coast Conference Evangelical Church 
Property location: off West Shore Road     Tax Map 46, Lots 6 and 16 
Zoning District(s): Rural/Agriculture and Shoreland Protection District 
Request: to utilize Camp Squanto on a year-round basis, requiring a use 
variance pursuant to Section IV.A. Also, to construct a new dining hall that 
does not meet the required setbacks, requiring an area variance from Section 
VIII.c.3.a.  
 
     Hutwelker opened the public hearing to consider the area variance 
application at 7:55.  
     Walker advised the Board that in the past – although not recently -- he has 
attended the Monadnock Covenant Church; he stated that he has no financial 
interest in the application, and felt comfortable being seated for the application 
so long as others on the Board had no objection. Board members agreed that 
Walker has no conflict of interest.  
 
Members seated: Hutwelker, Thibault, Beauregard, Walker. DeRocher was 
seated for Mitchell. 
Representing the application: David Cairns (Executive Director, Pilgrim Pines 
Conference Center), Rob Hitchcock (SVE Associates), attorney Michael Bentley 
Abutters and neighbors present who expressed opinions regarding the 
application: Susan Zimmerman, Barry Dwyer, Jay Dinkel, Barbara Dwyer, 
Bruce Bohannon, Kai Dafeldecker, Nancy Karlson, Lynne Holden, Kevin 
Krchak, Garth McGrath, Philip Johnson. ZBA members received an e-mail 
message in opposition to the proposal from William and Nancy McGhee, and an 
e-mail message in opposition to the proposal from Irving Shurberg. 
 
     Board members acknowledged receipt of a June 15, 2009 ZBA Application 
Summary prepared by Carbonneau. Carbonneau presented highlights of the 
summary and, noting that Town records are complete only as far back as 1990, 
said that the property has been used as a camp since the early 1900s. 
Carbonneau said that Weston has reviewed the plans, DPW Director Dunham 
has reviewed the plans and provided written comment, and said that no 
comments have been submitted from the Fire Department.  
 
     Cairns said the former YMCA Camp Jewel was purchased by Pilgrim Pines 
Conference center in 1957 and began operation as Camp Squanto in 1958. He 
said that interior photographs of the dining hall help to date the building to the 
time of Camp Jewel.  



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 5 of 8 
 
 
 

     Cairns said that the project proposes to demolish the existing dining hall 
and a derelict cottage adjacent to the property line, and construct a new dining 
hall/bunkhouse structure for year-round use on as much of the former dining 
hall footprint as possible, in accordance with setback requirements and 
topography. Cairns presented an artist’s rendering of the proposed dining hall, 
stating that the actual structure will be situated further back from the shore 
than represented, and stating that existing large vegetation will be retained. 
(During his presentation, Hitchcock advised the Board that one pine tree may 
be damaged in the construction process, and said that it may be necessary to 
remove the tree.) Cairns said that the proposed 2-story building will replace the 
existing 3-story building, with dining facilities on the upper (road) level and 
housing for 40 campers on the lower level. Cairns said that May 1—October 31 
use of Camp Squanto would be unchanged; the proposal seeks to add winter 
usage for church groups and service groups as a youth retreat camp. 
     Cairns said that he had presented the concept to the Planning Board in the 
autumn of 2008, and had conducted an information session for members of the 
Swanzey Lake Association during June 2009. He said that he has consulted 
with NH-DES regarding requirements of shoreland protection. 
      
     Hitchcock presented main features of the site plan. He said that the existing 
septic system will remain where located, with the addition of a force main. 
Hitchcock said that the proposed structure would be 39’ from its closest point 
to waters’ edge and, to accommodate grades and the increased distance from 
the shore, the upper level finished floor would be 7’ higher than the existing 
floor. Hitchcock said State regulations require that all vegetation in the 50’ 
shore area be retained, and said that the plan shows the locations of the 130 
existing trees. He said that natural vegetation will remain in place, with no 
installation of lawn. He said that 5’ of fill will be required to reduce the height of 
the stairs that access the building, and retaining walls will be constructed to 
create walk-out access to the lower level. Hitchcock described the plan for 
exterior lighting, which he said will be designed to minimize visibility of light 
from the lake. After removal of the cabin proposed for demolition, Hitchcock 
said that the area will be planted with evergreens to screen the southerly border 
of the property.  
     Bentley presented the applicant’s response to facts supporting the request. 
He said that removal of the “tired” dining hall and cottage, and replacement of 
the dining hall with a modern building set farther back from the shore, would 
improve property values. He said that natural constraints of the proposed 
residential portion of the structure (4 bunkrooms, with a common bath) would 
preclude use of the facility as a hotel for adult use, and the requested new 
period of operation for use by youth (November 1—April 30) would limit activity 
to periods of school vacations and weekends. He said that carpooling to youth 
retreats would be likely, helping to minimize increases in traffic during winter 
use; seasonal residents of Swanzey Lake are absent in the winter, neutralizing 
any net gain in traffic. Bentley said that the additional occupancy would 
generate revenue for the conference center, thereby defraying the cost of the 
new construction.  



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 6 of 8 
 
 
 

     Bentley said that the proposed changes would not change the character of 
the neighborhood, and would result in an improvement in public health, safety 
and welfare by improving environmental protection of Swanzey Lake. He said 
that the project is designed in response to the unnecessary hardship of site 
conditions, including the roadside embankment. Bentley said that the rest of 
the Camp Squanto site is constrained by existing structures and facilities. 
 
     At the request of Swanzey Conservation Commission (SCC) member Deb 
Crowder, Hitchcock said that he would provide a copy of the NH-DES Shoreland 
Protection permit application to the SCC. 
     SCC member Mike Morrison said that the SCC sees the proposal as an 
improvement over existing conditions, but has general concerns regarding 
apparent deterioration of Swanzey Lake since monitoring began in 1977. 
Morrison said that increased levels of phosphorus (today, determined to be at 
higher than State-permissible levels) accelerate the natural aging process of the 
lake, and the Town’s setbacks are designed to protect the lake. Because any 
septic overload causes deterioration of the lake, Crowder said, the SCC strongly 
advocates for compliance with setbacks. Crowder also requested assurance that 
nighttime visibility of light from windows would be minimized. 
     Hitchcock said that the septic system is designed to process 10,000 gallons 
per day; the current load is 8,500 gallons per day.  He said that the system has 
functioned without problem since its installation. Cairns said that there are no 
laundry facilities at Camp Squanto, and none are anticipated at this point. 
     Cairns stated that Swanzey Lake is the number one asset of the conference 
center; the facility improvements are needed, but are proposed to protect the 
quality of the lake.  
 
     Carbonneau advised those present that the zoning ordinance permits 
summer camps by special exception; a second use permitted by special 
exception is Section IV.A.2.j.: “educational or religious institution, club or lodge 
when the primary function is indoors.”  
     At the time of installation of the septic system, Carbonneau stated, the 
ordinance required that all septic system containers, lines and tanks be set 
back 125’ from wetlands; today, the ordinance requires only that leachfields be 
set back 125’ from wetlands. (Applications also must meet State regulations.)  
     Carbonneau stated that a 2009 amendment to the Zoning Ordinance, 
intended to encourage voluntary renovation of deteriorated buildings, allows for 
the complete teardown and rebuilding of a non-conforming structure within the 
same parameters as the existing building.   
      
     Members of the public expressed concerns regarding the Camp Squanto 
septic system. Barry Dwyer stated that, in his professional opinion, the Camp 
Squanto septic system is relatively failsafe, and unlikely to cause an impact to 
Swanzey Lake. He recommended installation of a battery-powered alarm as 
backup for electrical failure. To the best of his knowledge, Hitchcock said, the 
installer is obligated to inspect the system every three years, and could supply 
inspection reports.   



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 7 of 8 
 
 
 

     Jay Dinkel spoke in opposition to the proposal, stating that the view from 
his property will be adversely affected by the increased elevation of the proposed 
building. He expressed concern about increased wear on Town roads during 
mud season, and said that the proposed structure will have a significant effect 
on the light levels, especially during the winter months. He said that his main 
issue is with the proposed “intensive living arrangement,” and said that options 
for that use exist elsewhere on the Camp Squanto property.  
     Hitchcock said that the process of determining a location for the new septic 
system in 1998 required him to consider the entire property:  the presence of 
wetlands, the protective radius of the well, bathhouses, slopes beyond the tree 
line, parking lot, and ball fields leave no options other than the proposed 
location. To control the environment for children, Cairns said that the Camp 
Squanto facility and Pilgrim Pines facility have separate staffing, dining, and 
beach facilities. 
     Nancy Karlson spoke in favor of the proposal, stating that the new building 
would be better looking, and said that she trusted that the Camp would be 
conscientious with use of interior lights. Lynn Holden agreed, saying the new 
building would be an aesthetic improvement that she heartily endorsed. Garth 
McGrath (identifying himself as pastor of Pilgrim Pines’s sister institute -- the 
Monadnock Covenant Church -- as well as a neighborhood resident) stated that 
he loves to hear the sounds of children issuing from a healthy place, and said 
that he hopes the opportunities will be extended to children in winter as well. 
Speaking in favor of the proposal, Philip Johnson said that both cottage and 
dining hall were in poor condition in 1962. 
 
     With continued questioning, members of the ZBA determined that all winter 
activities would be self-contained in the new building, and re-affirmed that 
there would be no change in summer occupancy. Thibault said that no 
alternatives exist in the general area to meet the 125’ setback. Hitchcock said 
that the cubic volume of the proposed structure would be comparable to the 
existing dining hall.  
     Walker and Beauregard expressed interest in a site walk.  
     Motion by Thibault to continue the public hearing to a site walk 
commencing at 5:30 on Monday, June 22, 2009, at which time the Board will 
consider the entire application, including the application for use variance. 
Second by Beaurgard. All in favor.  
 
 
4. OTHER BUSINESS AS MAY BE REQUIRED 
Consideration of amended rules of procedure for formal adoption Carbonneau 
advised members of the ZBA of a recommendation by Hutwelker to replace 
“his/her” with “their” for gender neutrality. ZBA members supported the 
recommendation. 
     Motion by Thibault to approve the rules of procedure, with the replacement 
of “his/her” with “their.” Second by DeRocher. All in favor. 
 
Potential additional meeting  The group considered scheduling an extra ZBA 
meeting for July 13. 



Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment minutes – June 15, 2009 
Page 8 of 8 
 
 
 

 
Review of ZBA applications by heads of Town departments  Those present 
discussed the advantages and possible complications of requesting regular 
review of applications by department heads, in similar fashion to the review of 
applications to the Planning Board now requested of department heads. 
Members expressed interest in obtaining better information regarding the 
adequacy of facilities, and agreed that it might be inappropriate to solicit 
department heads’ opinions regarding other aspects of ZBA review. Members of 
the Board agreed to consider the matter further at the July meeting. 
 
Vacancies for alternate positions  Carbonneau advised Board members had 
alternate Geer has tendered her resignation; Geheran also will be resigning his 
position. 
 
ADJOURMENT 
Motion by Beauregard to adjourn. Second by Walker. All in favor. The meeting 
adjourned 9:30 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Victoria Reck Barlow,  
Recording Secretary 


